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4. During this inspection certain of your activities. as described below andlor attached. were in violation of NRC requirements and are being 
cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATiON. which may be subject to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.1 1. 

(Violations and Corrective Actions) 

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4, above. 
hereby state that. within 30 days. the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of 
xrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken. corrective steps which will be taken, 
ate when full compliance will be achieved). I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required. unless specifically requested. 
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Sept. 15, 2005 

87124 03.01,03.02, 03.03, 03.04,03.05,03.06, and 03.07 

The licensee was a private engineeringlconsulting firm and conducted licensed activities from two field 
offices. The licensee possessed one moisturddensity gauge used daily for road construction rojects 

maintenance activities on its gauge; these services were performed by the manufacturer. 

During this inspection, the ins ector toured the auge stora e area, inteNieWed select licensee personnel, 

job site. The inspector interviewed the gauge user and observed his use of personnel dosimetery, and 
surveillancdusdsecurity of the gauge at the job site. The ins ector also reviewed the shippin papers and 

vehicle. 

durin the construction season. The licensee approved five individuals (all successfully comp P eted the 
manu 9 acturer's training course) as authorized qauge users. The licensee did not perform any service or 

and reviewed select records. !he inspection inc 9 uded a fleljinspection of one gauge user at a temporary 

performed surveys around the gauge transport container an 8 the passenger compartment o f t  R e transport 
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